Electronically Filed
Apr 17 2018 08:15 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MARK E. SMITH, an individual, D/B/A
LAKE TAHOE WALL OF SHAME,

Appellant,

vs.

CARL LACKEY,


Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No.: 74461

District Court Case No.: CV17-00434

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from the Second Judicial District Court's denial of Appellant's Anti-SLAPP Special Motion to Dismiss pursuant to NRS 41.660.



Stephanie Rice, Esq. (SBN 11627)
Richard Salvatore, Esq. (SBN 6809)
96 & 98 Winter Street
Reno, Nevada 89503
(775) 786-5800

Attorneys for Appellant:
MARK E. SMITH, an individual,
D/B/A LAKE TAHOE WALL OF
SHAME

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

A. Basis for Supreme Court's Appellate Jurisdiction

This Court has appellate jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statutes, specifically, NRS 41.670(4) which provides, "If the court denies the special motion to dismiss filed pursuant to NRS 41.660, an interlocutory appeal lies to the Supreme Court."

B. Filing Dates Establishing Timeliness of Appeal

On October 23, 2017, the District Court denied MARK E. SMITH's Anti-SLAPP Special Motion to Dismiss /Motion to Dismiss. Vol. IV, JA 0226-JA 0240. On November 13, 2017, the Notice of Entry of Order was served on all parties. *Id.* at JA 0242-JA 0260. On November 13, 2017, MARK E. SMITH filed a Notice of Appeal. *Id.* at JA 0261-JA 0283. Such notice was timely under NRAP Rule 4(a)(1) because it was filed within thirty (30) days of service of the Notice of Entry of Order.

C. Order Appealing From

The October 23, 2017 Order at issue on appeal herein is the Order denying MARK E. SMITH's Anti-SLAPP Special Motion to Dismiss /Motion to Dismiss.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

**V.
ROUTING STATEMENT**

The statute authorizing this appeal, NRS 41.670, specifically provides that “[i]f the court denies the special motion to dismiss filed pursuant to NRS 41.660,” as occurred here, “an interlocutory appeal lies to the Supreme Court.” NRS 41.670(4). As such, this appeal should be presumptively retained by the Supreme Court.

In addition, Appellant herein respectfully believes this matter should be presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court in accordance with NRAP 17(a)(11), concerning, “Matters raising as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance, or an issue upon which there is an inconsistency in the published decisions of the Court of Appeals or of the Supreme Court or a conflict between published decisions of the two courts.” Because this case deals with a newer era of technology, specifically social media, in connection with First Amendment rights, this matter rises to the level of a question of statewide public importance and also involves significant public policy issues, as it deals with the extent to which online speech, petitioning and association rights are protected under Nevada’s anti-SLAPP statutes.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

VI.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the District Court abuse its discretion in denying Appellant, MARK E. SMITH'S Anti-SLAPP Special Motion to Dismiss pursuant to NRS 41.650 et. seq./Motion to Dismiss, when the causes of action set forth in the First Amended Complaint all arise out of Appellant's wildlife advocacy and seek to silence Appellant's speech, petitioning and association rights by attempting to hold Appellant liable for an alleged defamatory statement made by an unrelated third-party with similar wildlife advocacy efforts?

**VII.
STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Respondent, CARL LACKEY ("LACKEY"), filed his First Amended Complaint ("FAC") against MARK E. SMITH ("SMITH") and others¹ on March 31, 2017 based on one specific purported defamatory statement made by an unrelated third-party that LACKEY alleges gives rise to a myriad of damages, including reputational damage, emotional distress and attorney's fees. *See generally*, Vol. I, JA 0011-JA 0021. The entirety of LACKEY's claims against SMITH are premised on a lone comment posted on a public Facebook page called the LAKE TAHOE WALL OF SHAME, that doesn't even reference LACKEY, let alone defame him. Vol. I, JA 0016, ¶¶p. LACKEY does not once even allege that SMITH made any comments at all and certainly not any comments concerning LACKEY. Vol. I, JA 0011-JA 0021.

Further, SMITH was apparently erroneously named in this action as doing business as the LAKE TAHOE WALL OF SHAME; however, SMITH is not the creator or even an administrator of the LAKE TAHOE WALL OF SHAME public Facebook page. Vol. I, JA 0082 at ¶¶2-3. As such, on June 5, 2017, SMITH filed an

¹ With respect to the other parties sued by LACKEY in this action, CAROLYN STARK, an individual and allegedly doing business as NDOW WATCH KEEPING THEM TRANSPARENT, currently has a similar appeal pending in this Court, Case No. 74449; and, the BEAR LEAGUE and ANNE BRYANT reached a non-monetary settlement after the Court denied their similar Anti-SLAPP Special Motions to Dismiss.

1 Anti-SLAPP Special Motion to Dismiss/Motion to Dismiss pursuant to NRS
2 41.660 et. seq. and NRCP 12(b)(5). (“Motion”).

3 On October 23, 2017, the District Court denied SMITH’s Motion as to all
4 but LACKEY’s claim for Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress, which was
5 dismissed (and has not been appealed). Vol. IV, JA 0226-JA 0240. On November
6 13, 2017, the Notice of Entry of Order was served on all parties. *Id.* at JA 0242-JA
7 0260.
8

9 **VIII.**
10 **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

11 The facts of this case are crystal clear, much like the errors committed by the
12 District Court in denying Appellant, MARK E. SMITH’s (“SMITH”), Anti-
13 SLAPP Special Motion to Dismiss/Motion to Dismiss.

14 **Anti-SLAPP/Defamation**

15 LACKEY’s FAC asserts claims against SMITH for Defamation, Intentional
16 Infliction of Emotional Distress, Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress
17 (dismissed by the District Court) and Civil Conspiracy. *See generally*, Vol. I, JA
18 0011-JA 0021. Neither LACKEY’s original Complaint, nor his FAC were
19 verified. *Id.*; *See also*, Vol. I, JA 0001-JA 0010. At no time did LACKEY provide
20 a Declaration or Affidavit in support of his claims in this action. *See generally*,
21 Vol. I, JA 0030-Vol. IV, JA 0225.
22
23

1 LACKEY is a biologist employed by the Nevada Department of Wildlife.
2 Vol. I, JA 0013, ¶7. LACKEY is basically in charge of the bear population in the
3 State of Nevada for NDOW. SMITH is a wildlife advocate and conservationist of
4 natural resources, “specifically the preservation and treatment of bears.” Vol. IV,
5 JA 0230:3-4.
6

7 In his FAC, LACKEY alleges that SMITH, “is an individual, residing in
8 Incline Village, Washoe County, State of Nevada and is doing business as LAKE
9 TAHOE WALL OF SHAME.” Vol. I, JA 0012 at ¶4. In support of Motion,
10 SMITH submitted a Declaration under penalty of perjury refuting LACKEY’s
11 allegation stating, “I was named herein erroneously as MARK E. SMITH, an
12 individual dba LAKE TAHOE WALL OF SHAME” and, “I am neither the creator
13 nor an administrator for LAKE TAHOE WALL OF SHAME’s Facebook page.”
14 Vol. I, JA 0082 at ¶2 and 3; See also, Vol. I, JA 0030 at Fn. 1, (“Erroneously
15 named as MARK E. SMITH an individual and dba LAKE TAHOE WALL OF
16 SHAME”).
17

18 In his FAC, LACKEY alleges that the “BEAR LEAGUE, LAKE TAHOE
19 WALL OF SHAME and LAKE TAHOE WALL OF SHAME [*sic*] and NDOW
20 WATCH KEEPING THEM TRANSPARENT acted intentionally and with malice
21 with the primary purpose being to harm, threaten, intimidate, cause fear, anxiety,
22 embarrassment and damage to Plaintiff’s reputation by publishing false and vicious
23

1 comments accusing Plaintiff of criminal conduct (including accepting bribes and
2 conspiracy), designed to incite public outrage;” and then articulates twenty-six
3 allegedly defamatory statements. Vol. I, JA 0014:2-JA 0017:28. The FAC fails to
4 allege that any one of the allegedly defamatory statements set forth therein was
5 made by Appellant, SMITH. *Id.* See also, Vol. I, JA 0032:10-11, (“Noticeably
6 absent from the FAC are any allegations that SMITH published any comments
7 whatsoever, and certainly not any comments about or concerning LACKEY.”).
8 The FAC seeks to hold SMITH responsible for a specific third-party statement by
9 alleging that SMITH and the LAKE TAHOE WALL OF SHAME are one in the
10 same; however, such assertion is unequivocally false. Vol. I, JA 0082, ¶2-4.
11
12

13 However, in ruling on SMITH’s Motion, the District Court analyzed one
14 statement made by an unrelated third-party that was posted to the LAKE TAHOE
15 WALL OF SHAME’s public Facebook page as follows: “ ‘A department with no
16 real interest in wildlife other than to make it available to hunters and trappers ...
17 some might say they are criminals against nature ... they are certainly ignorant
18 about it.’ Commenter Sean Stansfield on Lake Tahoe Wall of Shame’s
19 Facebook Page.” [Emphasis Added]. Vol. IV, JA 0229:12-15. In his FAC, this is
20 the one and only specific statement LACKEY alleges SMITH should somehow be
21 held liable for. Vol. I, JA 0011-JA 0021.
22
23

1 Absolutely nothing in the above statement apparently made by non-party,
2 Sean Stansfield, makes any reference or infers it is speaking about or is any way
3 related to LACKEY. *Id.* See also, Vol. IV, JA 0230:11-12, (“There is no indication
4 of what this ‘department’ is (although, the Court presumes it is referring to the
5 NDOW)”).

6
7 SMITH “had no role in drafting or publishing the comment of Sean
8 S[tan]sfield on the LAKE TAHOE WALL OF SHAME Facebook page identified
9 in the First Amended Complaint in ¶14p [and] ... was not even aware of the
10 comment until ... this lawsuit.” [Emphasis Added]. Vol. I, JA 0082 at ¶5.

11
12 In evaluating whether the statement made by non-party Sean Stansfield on
13 LAKE TAHOE WALL OF SHAME’s public Facebook page was related to an
14 issue of public concern, the District Court held, “The Court questions whether
15 there is a sufficient degree of closeness between this statement and [the] purported
16 public interest of preserving wildlife or bribery of a public official.” Vol. IV, JA
17 0230:9-11.

18
19 The District Court went on to find, “Nonetheless, even if this statement fell
20 within the broadly stated public interest, in order to shift the burden to LACKEY,
21 SMITH must prove, by the preponderance of the evidence, that the statements are
22 true or were made without knowledge of their falsehood.” *Id.* at JA 0230:13-15.
23

1 In ultimately denying SMITH's Anti-SLAPP Special Motion to Dismiss, the
2 District Court concluded,

3 "Here, there is no evidence provided that shows the statement is
4 truthful or was made without knowledge of its falsehood. In fact,
5 **Smith attests that he had no role in drafting or publishing the**
6 **comment of Sean S[tan]sfield on the Lake Tahoe Wall of Shame**
7 **Facebook's page.** Therefore, the Court finds the first prong of NRS
8 41.660 has not been satisfied. Thus, the Court does not find the
burden shifts to Lackey to prove his likelihood of success on his
claims. The Court will deny Smith's motion to dismiss under Nevada's
anti-SLAPP legislation."

9 [Emphasis Added]. *Id.* at JA 0230:16-21.² As an initial matter, the District Court
10 committed plain error by finding "there is no evidence provided that shows the
11 statement is truthful or was made without knowledge of its falsehood;" as
12 SMITH's declaration expressly affirmed that he didn't even know about the
13 comment at the time it was made, so he could not have known of its purported
14 falsehood at the time it was made when he didn't even know about the comment.
15 *Id.* See, Vol. I, JA 0082, ¶5 (SMITH "was not even aware of the comment until ...
16 this lawsuit").
17
18
19

20 ² The District Court failed to meaningfully address whether the subject statements
21 constituted "opinions" as opposed to purported statements of fact. "Opinions are
22 constitutionally protected and cannot form the basis of a defamation-type claim."
23 [Citations Omitted]. *Daniel v. Wayans*, 8 Cal. App. 5th 367, 397, 213 Cal. Rptr. 3d
865, 891 (Ct. App. 2017). As such, because the one specific statement alleged in
the FAC to be attributable to SMITH (albeit erroneously so) is a clear statement of
opinion, the District Court erred in failing to meaningfully address this.

1 In his Motion, SMITH asserted that he could not be held liable for
2 statements of third-parties under the Communications Decency Act ("CDA"). Vol.
3 I, JA 0042:21-23, stating, ("Under the Communication Decency Act (CDA), '[n]o
4 provider or user of an interactive computer service shall be treated as the publisher
5 or speaker of any information provided by another information content
6 provider.' 11 USC §230(c)(1)") [Emphasis Added]. Despite the evidence
7 submitted to the contrary, with respect to the claim of Defamation, the District
8 Court concluded,
9

10 "Here, the FAC alleges that Smith is doing business as Lake Tahoe
11 Wall of Shame. The FAC alleges a specific comment of a person (not
12 Smith) on Lake Tahoe Wall of Shame's Facebook_page as well as
13 *generally states* that members^[3] of Lake Tahoe Wall of Shame, and
14 Lake Tahoe Wall of Shame (itself) has made and continues to make
15 false statements regarding Lackey and initiates public comment
16 threads on Facebook slandering Lackey including accusing him of
17 criminal conduct (accepting bribes and conspiracy). It further alleges
18 that Smith and Lake Tahoe Wall of Shame published and encouraged
19 statements. . . . [T]he Court cannot conclude for the purposes of a
20 motion to dismiss, that Smith did not encourage the third party user's
21 statement. Therefore, at this time, *the Court cannot find Smith is*
22 *immunized from liability* for the third party comments under the
23 CDA."

3 As a practical matter, to the extent the District Court refers to "members" of
LAKE TAHOE WALL OF SHAME's public Facebook page, there are no
"members" of a public Facebook page. A public Facebook page is more akin to an
online newspaper publication where the public can submit comments, letters to the
editors, opinion pieces, etc.

1 (Citations Omitted). [Emphasis Added]. *Id.* at JA 0042:14-JA 0043:8.⁴ There are
2 absolutely no allegations of any specific conduct or actions taken either by SMITH
3 or by NDOW WATCH to identify how or what SMITH purportedly did to
4 encourage statements. *See generally*, Vol. I, JA 0011-JA 0021. The District Court
5 simply ruled on the general and unsupported allegation, despite the admissible
6 evidence provided to explicitly dispute the generalized statement. Vol. I, JA 0082,
7 ¶5 (SMITH “was not even aware of the comment until ... this lawsuit”)
8 [Emphasis Added]. How could SMITH work in concert with others or encourage
9 the specific statement alleged when he did not even know about it?
10

11 Despite the above findings of the Court with respect to the allegedly
12 defamatory statement made by Sean Stansfield, the District Court found the
13 statement was not actionable because it was apparently about some “unspecified
14 ‘department’ and not LACKEY himself.” *Id.* at JA 0235:27-JA 0236:2.
15

16 LACKEY further alleges in his FAC that,

17 “Defendants, and each of them, utilized Defendants BEAR LEAGUE,
18 LAKE TAHOE WALL OF SHAME ... and NDOW WATCH
19 KEEPING THEM TRANSPARENT Facebook pages and blogs to
20 publish false and defamatory statements of and concerning Plaintiff
21 and threatening his livelihood... . Defendants ANNE BRYANT,
MARK E. SMITH, CAROLYN STARK, BEAR LEAGUE, LAKE
TAHOE WALL OF SHAME and NDOW WATCH KEEPING

22 ⁴ The Court further stated, “For the purposes of a motion to dismiss, that the Court
23 is declining at this time in the litigation to convert to summary judgment, the Court
will not consider the evidence provided by the parties that discusses SMITH’s role
(or lack thereof) in LAKE TAHOE WALL OF SHAME.” Vol. IV, JA 0233:9-12.

1 THEM TRANSPARENT and LAKE TAHOE WALL OF SHAME
2 published and encouraged the statements despite having actual
3 knowledge that such statements were false, or with reckless disregard
4 for their veracity, to the extent that a reasonable person would likely
5 understand the remarks as statements of existing fact rather than
6 expression of opinions... Defendants, and each of them, in making
7 public posts on Facebook, made *and/or condoned the publication of
such false and defamatory statements* of and concerning Plaintiff...
8 Defendants, and each of them, knew that the inflammatory false
9 information they were posting was malicious, false, and accusatory of
10 criminal conduct and had the purpose of harming, threatening,
11 intimidating and/or harassing Plaintiff and his livelihood.”

12 [Emphasis Added]. Vol. I, JA 0018 at ¶17-21. Despite this general and conclusory
13 allegation, the FAC fails to allege any statement at all- defamatory or otherwise-
14 that was made by SMITH. Vol. I, JA 0014:2-JA 0017:28; See also, *Id.* at JA
15 0032:10-11, (“Noticeably absent from the FAC are any allegations that SMITH
16 published any comments whatsoever...”). However, the Court then went on to find
17 that because LACKEY “generally alleges the elements of defamation, and
18 specifically states that SMITH and LAKE TAHOE WALL OF SHAME published
19 and encouraged the statements, the Court finds LACKEY has stated a claim for
20 defamation.” [Emphasis Added]. *Id.* at JA 0236:2-5.

21 Civil Conspiracy

22 With respect to LACKEY’s conspiracy claim, LACKEY failed to allege any
23 specific conduct at all by Defendants SMITH, BRYANT or STARK. Vol. I, JA
0014:2-JA 0017:28. Instead, LACKEY seeks to attribute comments allegedly
made by the BEAR LEAGUE and several other unrelated, non-parties, to SMITH.

1 *Id.* LACKEY failed to in any way allege how SMITH purportedly “acted in
2 concert with [the other defendants] to accomplish the goals of harassing and
3 threatening Plaintiff and causing him fear, anxiety, embarrassment and damaging
4 [sic] to his reputation.” Vol. I, JA 0020 at ¶35.

5 While SMITH has “never worked in concert with any of the other
6 defendants in this lawsuit with the goal to harass or threaten LACKEY” and, “ha[s]
7 also never worked in concert with any of the other defendants in this lawsuit with
8 the goal of causing LACKEY fear, anxiety, embarrassment or damage to his
9 reputation” (Vol. I, JA 0082 at ¶6); the District Court somehow still found
10 LACKEY properly alleged a claim for civil conspiracy against SMITH. Vol. IV,
11 JA 0236:17-18.
12

13
14 **Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress**

15 Again, despite LACKEY’s failure to allege even one single shred of specific
16 conduct, statements or actions on the part of SMITH, the District Court found
17 LACKEY properly plead his claim of Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress
18 against SMITH based on the allegation, which was disputed with admissible
19 evidence, that SMITH and the LAKE TAHOE WALL OF SHAME are one in the
20 same. Vol. IV, JA 0237:10-15.
21

22 ///

23 ///

IX.
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In direct violation of the statutory principals derived by way of the First Amendment's freedom of speech and freedom of association, LACKEY is attempting to use this lawsuit to silence wildlife advocates by apparently suing anyone associated with such advocacy. Here, even though LACKEY has failed to allege any specific conduct on the part of SMITH, it is clear that LACKEY has asserted claims against SMITH based on one specific statement made by a third-party, in a clear effort to silence SMITH and stop him from continuing his wildlife advocacy and conservation efforts "to change the way the Nevada Department of Wildlife ("NDOW") deals with problem bears in the Lake Tahoe area." Vol. I, JA 0086:3-5.

While LACKEY attempts to hold SMITH liable for a statement made by someone else (regarding the public issue of NDOW and its handling of bears) on the LAKE TAHOE WALL OF SHAME's public Facebook page (Vol. I, JA 0229:12-15), which SMITH did not create and is not an administrator of (Vol. I, JA 0082, ¶2-3), it is clear that the causes of actions asserted against SMITH herein all apparently derive from SMITH's association with similar wildlife advocacy and concerns and any such association/petitioning activity is protected by the Anti-SLAPP statutes. Vol. I, JA 0086:3-5; See also, Vol. IV, JA 0230:3-4. Thus, the

1 District Court abused its discretion is failing to grant SMITH's Anti-SLAPP
2 Motion.

3
4 **X.**
ARGUMENT

5 **A. Standard of Review**

6 On a special motion to dismiss pursuant to the anti-SLAPP statute, the
7 plaintiff's burden is clear and convincing evidence, and the Supreme Court reviews
8 for an abuse of discretion. NRS §41.660(3)(b). *Shapiro v. Welt*, 133 Nev. Adv. Op.
9 6, 389 P.3d 262, 266 (2017).
10

11 **B. Understanding Nevada's Anti-SLAPP Statutes**

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