IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MARK E. SMITH, an individual, dba LAKE TAHOE WALL OF SHAME

Appellant,

Case No. 74461

Electronically Filed May 16 2018 10:25 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

CARL LACKEY, an individual,

Respondent.

APPEAL

from the Second Judicial District Court, Department 4 The Honorable Connie Steinheimer, District Court Judge District Court Case No. CV17-00434

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

SEAN P. ROSE State Bar No. 5472 ROSE LAW OFFICE 150 W. Huffaker Lane, Suite 101 Reno, NV 89511 Telephone: (775) 824-8200 Facsimile: (775) 657-8517

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the district court abuse its discretion when it held that Smith failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that Respondent

vii

Carl Lackey's ("Lackey") claims are based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern and therefore the burden did not shift to Lackey to demonstrate with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on his claims for purposes of a motion to dismiss pursuant to NRS 41.660?

2. Did the district court err when it accepted the allegations in the First Amended Complaint ("FAC") as true and concluded that it does not appear beyond a doubt that Lackey can prove no set of facts in support of his claims for purposes of a motion to dismiss pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5)?

I. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

This appeal stems from Smith's motion to dismiss pursuant to NRS 41.660 and NRCP 12(b)(5). This case involves Smith's outrageous, harassing, intimidating and threatening conduct towards Lackey related to his employment duties with the Nevada Department of Wildlife ("NDOW"). In denying the motion, the district court relied solely upon the FAC and declined to consider the additional evidence presented by the parties.

The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion to dismiss pursuant to NRS 41.660 based solely upon the FAC. Even if this Court concludes that the FAC does not support the district court's ruling, the record on appeal, including the additional evidence presented by the parties, support the district court's denial of the NRS 41.660 motion to dismiss. *Saavedra-Sandoval v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.,* 126 Nev. 592, 599, 245 P.3d 1198, 1202 (2010) ("This court will affirm a district court's order if the district court reached the correct result, even if for the wrong reason.").

A *de novo* review of the motion to dismiss pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) compels a conclusion from this Court that it does not appear beyond a doubt that the FAC could prove no set of facts, which if true, would entitle Lackey to relief. This Court should therefore affirm the district court's *Order* Regarding Mark E. Smith's Special Motion to Dismiss/Motion to Dismiss ("Order").

II. STANDARDS OF REVIEW

A. NRS 41.660 Dismissal.

This Court reviews an NRS 41.660 motion to dismiss for an abuse of discretion standard. *Shapiro v. Welt,* 133 Nev. __, __, 389 P.3d 262, 266 (2017). Under this standard, this Court "provide[s] greater deference to the lower court's findings of fact . . ." *Id.* at __, 389 P.3d at 266.

Smith incorrectly states that Lackey's burden of proof pursuant to NRS 41.660 was "clear and convincing." Appellant's Opening Brief at 12 ("AOB"). Prior to 2013, an NRS 41.660 motion was treated as one for summary judgment. *Delucchi v. Songer*, ______, Nev. ____, ___, 396 P.3d 826, 830 (2017). In 2013, NRS 41.660(3)(b) was amended and the plaintiff was required to establish by clear and convincing evidence a probability of success on the merits. *Id.* at ___, 396 P.3d at 831. The Legislature, however, amended the burden of proof again in 2015 and the statute now only requires the plaintiff to demonstrate "with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim." NRS 41.660(3)(b).

///

B. NRCP 12(b)(5) Dismissal.

Although Smith moved to dismiss based upon NRS 41.660 and NRCP 12(b)(5), Volume 1 Joint Appendix 0030-0051 (hereinafter "_JA_"), he now contends for the first time on appeal that the district court should have dismissed Lackey's claims for intentional infliction of emotional distress and conspiracy based upon NRS 41.660 because dismissal is appropriate for any "cause of action against a person arising from any act of that person in furtherance of the person's right of petition or free speech . . ." AOB at 26 (citing *Baral v. Schnitt*, 376 P.3d 604 (Cal. 2016)); *see also* AOB at 14-15.

The pleadings filed with the district court show that this argument was never raised below. 1JA0030-0113, 2JA0114-0128, 3JA0129-0174, 4JA0175-0209 This Court need not consider arguments raised for the first time on appeal. *Delgado v. Am. Fam. Ins. Group*, 125 Nev. 564, 570, 217 P.3d 563, 567 (2009). "A point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal." *Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981).

Even if this Court were to consider this new argument, the causes of action for intentional infliction of emotional distress and conspiracy are still not subject to dismissal. That is because only the allegations of protected activity are stricken when relief is sought based upon allegations of both protected and unprotected activity. *Baral*, 376 P.3d at 617.

An order granting an NRCP 12(b)(5) motion to dismiss is reviewed *de novo. Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 227–28, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008). Dismissing a complaint is appropriate "only if it appears beyond a doubt that [the complaint] could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle [the plaintiff] to relief." *Id.*, 181 P.3d at 672.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

NDOW employs Lackey as a Biologist III. 1JA0013 Biologist III duties are to "manipulate fish and wildlife populations and habitats by introducing species into suitable habitats consistent with biological and social constraints; bait and trap, tranquilize, radio collar or band wildlife and transport to selected locations" and "investigate and assess damage caused by wildlife upon private property and public lands; recommend appropriate courses of action to mitigate or resolve the problem." *Id.* Citizens are encouraged to contact NDOW when there is a human-bear conflict. *Id.* Smith does business as Lake Tahoe Wall of Shame ("LTWS") and is its voice. 1JA0012

In performing his employment duties, Lackey has become the victim of continuing vicious online and in person threatening and harassing conduct from members of Bear League and the online forums LTWS, NDOW Watch Keeping Them Transparent, and Bear League. 1JA0013 Bear League volunteers and members of the online forums of LTWS and NDOW Watch Keeping Them Transparent have made and continue to make false statements regarding Lackey's character in a vicious and calculated effort to damage his reputation and jeopardize his employment. *Id.* Bear League, LTWS, and NDOW Watch Keeping Them Transparent have and continue to initiate public comment threads on their Facebook pages and other Facebook pages slandering Lackey and urging and encouraging others to shame and harass him. *Id.*

The FAC alleges and the posts show that Smith and others published false and vicious comments about Lackey rising to the level of slander per se by accusing him of criminal conduct and attacking his livelihood, including allegations that he purportedly accepted payments from hunters to disclose locations of bears, purportedly accepted payments from hunters to place bears in hunt zones, and allegedly conspired with others to commit illegal acts. 1JA0014-0018 Many of these published comments incite violence or illegal conduct. 1JA0017 (post urging Lackey's assassination); *see also* 1JA0111-0123. Smith also ignores the undisputed fact that a number of the posts inciting violence or illegal conduct were posted on LTWS. 2JA0125-0128 and 3JA0129-0130

Lackey brought suit against Smith and others asserting defamation, intentional infliction of emotional distress, negligent infliction of emotional distress and civil conspiracy.¹ 1JA0011-0021 Smith moved to dismiss pursuant to NRS 41.660 and NRCP 12(b)(5). 1JA0030-0051 To support his motion, Smith provided the district court with his declaration and other supporting exhibits. 1JA0081-0084 Lackey filed his opposition with supporting exhibits and a supplemental opposition with additional supporting exhibits. 1JA0085-0113, 2JA0114-0128, 3JA0129-0174, 4JA0175-0183, 0198-0209

The district court issued its ruling October 23, 2017 and declined to consider the evidence presented by both parties relying solely upon the FAC. 4JA0226-0240 Appellant filed the instant appeal.

///

///

///

¹ Smith appears to suggest that the initial complaint and the FAC are defective because Lackey did not verify the allegations and did not provide a declaration or affidavit in support of his claims. AOB at 2. Smith, however, failed to cite to any authority to support this contention.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court's Order Denying Smith's NRS 41.660 Motion to Dismiss Should Be Affirmed.

Although the parties submitted additional evidence to the district court for consideration, the court did not consider it and relied solely upon the FAC. 4JA0248-0250 The district court identified the one statement attributed to Smith (1JA0016 ¶ 14.p.) and made the following conclusions: (1) the conduct was not illegal; (2) the statement was made in a public forum; (3) Smith's "articulated public interest is . . . the preservation and treatment of bears, as well as bribery of a public official. . . [and] this interest does not equate with mere curiosity"; (4) in evaluating the statement at issue with this articulated public interest and focusing "on the specific nature of the speech rather than the generalities[,]" there is an insufficient "degree of closeness between this statement and purported public interest of preserving wildlife or bribery of a public official"; and (5) even if the statement at issue fell with the stated public interest, there is no evidence that the statement is truthful or was made without knowledge of its falsehood.² 4JA0250 Contrary to Smith's erroneous contention, the district

² Because the district court concluded that Smith did not carry the initial burden of proof, the burden did not shift to Lackey and the court did not address the remainder of the parties' arguments related to Nevada's anti-SLAPP statutes. 4JA0250

court acknowledged that his articulated interest in the preservation and treatment of bears as well as the bribery of public officials involve issues of public interest. *Id.*

The district court's conclusions are sound, supported by the record, and should be affirmed pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard. In order to fall within the purview of NRS 41.637(4)'s protection, the communication at issue must be "truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood." NRS 41.637(4). In viewing only the FAC, there is no evidence that the statement that the department has "no real interest in wildlife other than to make it available for hunters and trappers" and that the department's employees are "criminals against nature" is truthful or made without knowledge of its falsehood. 1JA0011-0021

Smith urges this Court to consider the declaration he submitted as grounds to reverse the district court's *Order*. His declaration, however, does not support a reversal of the *Order*. Smith states in his declaration that he had no role in drafting or publishing the one comment. 1JA0082 If he had no role in drafting or publishing this one comment, then how can he know whether the statement is truthful or made without knowledge of its falsehood. Even if this Court considers the additional evidence the parties submitted below, this Court is compelled to reach the same conclusion - the NRS 41.660 motion must be denied. NRS 41.660(3)(d) permits the court to consider additional evidence presented "as may be material in making a determination" regarding dismissal. NRS 41.660(3)(d).

The district court further correctly ruled that the Communications Decency Act ("CDA") does not insulate Smith from liability. 1JA0042-0043 In relying solely upon the FAC, the allegations set forth in the FAC support this ruling.

The FAC alleges that Smith conducts business as LTWS and therefore Smith and LTWS are one and the same. 1JA0012 ¶ 4 The FAC further alleges that LTWS itself made and continues to make false statements about Lackey. 1JA0013-0014 ¶¶ 13-14 Because the FAC alleges that LTWS itself made and continues to make false statements about Lackey, Smith as LTWS is an "information content provider" who cannot be insulated from liability. 47 U.S.C. § 230(f)(3).

B. The Additional Evidence Presented by the Parties Warrant a Denial of the NRS 41.660 Motion.

SLAPP is an acronym for "strategic lawsuit against public participation". Smith relies upon *City of Montebello v. Vasquez*, 376 P.3d 624, 632 (Cal. 2016), and *Delucchi v. Songer*, _____ Nev. ___, 396 P.3d 826,

9

832-833 (2017), for the proposition that this Court should not consider First Amendment law but only the statutory definitions of NRS 41.637 in addressing an NRS 41.660 motion. AOB at 13.

Smith, however, fails to acknowledge the exception noted by the court in *Vasquez*: "There is an important exception . . . [because the anti-SLAPP statute] was expressly intended to protect **valid** speech and petitioning activity[, the anti-SLAPP statutes] cannot be invoked by a defendant whose assertedly protected activity is illegal as a matter of law and, for that reason, not protected by constitutional guarantees of free speech and petition." 376 P.3d at 634 (emphasis in original). If the declared speech is illegal as a matter of law, then that speech is not protected by Nevada's anti-SLAPP statutes. *Stubbs v. Strickland*, Nev. , 297 P.3d 236 (2013).

In his opposition, Lackey identified the following statements published by Smith:

1. "we Must rid Nevada of this monster who lives and is paid to kill bears[,]" 1JA0111-0123;

2. Posts encouraging harassing and threatening posts and thanking individuals for posting harassing and bullying statements about and photographs of Lackey and his family, 3JA0162-0168;

3. Posts encouraging others to post information on Lackey so that a "psychological profile" could be prepared on him so that everyone can better understand "what makes [Lackey] tick[,]" 4JA0180

4. Post stating that an expert has declared Lackey to be a narcissist and misogynist who has "feelings of persecution and grandiosity[.]" *Id.*

These statements do not fall within the protection afforded by NRS 41.637.

Not all speech and petition activities are constitutionally protected. *United States v. Alvarez,* 132 S. Ct. 2537, 2544 (2012). Obscenity, libel and "fighting words" have long been recognized as falling outside the scope of the First Amendment protection because they lack any social value. *Id.*

If the subject communication is such that a reasonable person would perceive it as a threat to cause him harm or it could incite others to cause harm, it is not subject to First Amendment protection. In *D.C. v. R.R.*, the California Court of Appeals was called upon to determine if California's anti-SLAPP statutes applied to threaten cyber-bullying statements by high school students toward another student they believed to be gay. 106 Cal.Rptr.3rd 399 (Cal. Ct. App. 2010).

The victim and his parents filed an action against the perpetrators. *Id.* at 405. One of the defendants filed an anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss. *Id.* In denying the motion to dismiss, the court set out a well-reasoned discussion of the application of California's anti-SLAPP statutes and First Amendment free speech rights to speech involving threats and incitement:

11

[T]he First Amendment does not protect true threats--"statements where the speaker means to communicate a serious expression of an intent to commit an act of unlawful violence to a particular individual or group of individuals." *Virginia v. Black,* 538 U.S. 343, 358-360 (2003) "The speaker **need not actually intend to carry out the threat**." *Id.* "'A true threat is a serious one, not uttered in jest, idle talk, or political argument."" *U.S. v. Fuller*, 387 F.3d 643, 646 (7th Cir. 2004).

Id. at 419 (emphasis added).

The court noted that an objective standard is applied to determine if a

statement is a "true threat" unworthy of protection.

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